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Introduction

THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT, the highest court in the land, is the final forum for appeal in the American judiciary. The Court has interpreted the Constitution and has decided the country’s preeminent legal disputes for nearly two centuries. Virtually every issue of significance in American society eventually arrives at the Supreme Court. Its decisions ultimately affect the rights and freedom of every citizen—poor, rich, blacks, Indians, pregnant women, those accused of crime, those on death row, newspaper publishers, pornographers, environmentalists, businessmen, baseball players, prisoners and Presidents.

For those nearly two hundred years, the Court has made its decisions in absolute secrecy, handing down its judgments in formal written opinions. Only these opinions, final and unreviewable, are published. No American institution has so completely controlled the way it is viewed by the public. The Court’s deliberative process—its internal debates, the tentative positions taken by the Justices, the preliminary votes, the various drafts of written opinions, the negotiations, confrontations and compromises—is hidden from public view.

The Court has developed certain traditions and rules, largely unwritten, that are designed to preserve the secrecy of its deliberations. The few previous attempts to describe the Court’s internal workings—biographies of particular Justices or histories of individual cases—have been published years, often decades, after the events, or have reflected the viewpoints of only a few Justices.

Much of recent history, notably the period that included the Vietnam War and the multiple scandals known as Watergate, suggests that the detailed steps of decision making, the often hidden motives of the decision makers, can be as important as the eventual decisions themselves. Yet the Court, unlike the Congress and the Presidency, has by and large escaped public scrutiny. And because its members are not subject to periodic reelection, but are appointed for life, the Court is less disposed to allow its decision making to become public. Little is usually known about the Justices when they are appointed, and after taking office they limit their public exposure to the Court’s published opinions and occasional, largely ceremonial, appearances.

The Brethren is an account of the inner workings of the Supreme Court from 1969 to 1976—the first seven years of Warren E. Burger’s tenure as Chief Justice of the United States. To ensure that our inquiry would in no way interfere with the ongoing work of the Court, we limited our investigation to those years. We interviewed no one about any cases that reached the Court after 1976.

We chose to examine the contemporary Court in order to obtain fresh recollections, to deal with topical issues and to involve sitting Justices. This book is not intended as a comprehensive review of all the important decisions made during the period. The cases we examine generally reflect the interest, time and importance assigned to them by the Justices themselves. As a result, some cases of prominence or importance—but which provide no insight into the internal dynamics of the Court—have been dealt with only briefly or not at all. The Court conducts its business during an annual session called a term, which begins each October and continues until the last opinion is announced in June or early July. The Court recess runs from then until the next October.

Normally, there are seven decision-making steps in each case the Court takes.

1. The decision to take the case requires that the Court note its jurisdiction or formally grant cert. Under the Court’s procedures, the Justices have discretion in selecting which cases they will consider. Each year, they decide to hear fewer than two hundred of the five thousand cases that are filed. At least four of the nine Justices must vote to hear a case. These votes are cast in a secret conference attended only by the Justices, and the actual vote is ordinarily not disclosed.

2. Once the Court agrees to hear a case, it is scheduled for written and oral argument by the lawyers for the opposing sides. The written arguments, called legal briefs, are filed with the Court and are available to the public. The oral arguments are presented to the Justices publicly in the courtroom; a half-hour is usually allotted to each side.

3. A few days after oral arguments, the Justices discuss the case at a closed meeting called the case conference. There is a preliminary discussion and an initial vote is taken. Like all appellate courts, the Supreme Court normally uses the facts already developed from testimony and information presented to the lower trial court. The Supreme Court can reinterpret the laws, the U.S. Constitution, and prior cases. On this basis, the decisions of lower courts are affirmed or reversed. As in the cert conference, at which Justices decide which cases to hear, only the Justices attend the case conferences. (The nine members of the Court often refer to themselves collectively as the conference.)

4. The next crucial step is the selection of one of the nine Justices to write a majority opinion. By tradition, the Chief Justice, if he is in the initial majority, can assign himself or another member of the majority to write the opinion. When he is not in the majority, the senior Justice in the majority makes the assignment.

5. While one Justice is writing the majority opinion, others may also be drafting a dissent or a separate concurrence. It can be months before these opinions—a majority, dissent or concurrence—are sent out or circulated to the other Justices. In some cases, the majority opinion goes through dozens of drafts, as both the opinion and the reasoning may be changed to accommodate other members of a potential majority or to win over wavering Justices. As the Justices read the drafts, they may shift their votes from one opinion to another. On some occasions, what had initially appeared to be a majority vanishes and a dissenting opinion picks up enough votes to become the tentative majority opinion of the Court.

6. In the next to last stage, the Justices join a majority or a dissenting opinion. Justices often view the timing, the sequence and the explanations offered for “joins” as crucial to their efforts to put together and hold a majority.

7. In announcing and publishing the final opinion, the Justices choose how much of their reasoning to make public. Only the final versions of these opinions are available in law libraries. The published majority opinion provides the legal precedents which guide future decisions by lower courts and the Supreme Court itself.

We began this project in the summer of 1977 as two laymen lacking a comprehensive knowledge of the law. We read as many of the cases and as much of the background material about the period as time would allow. We found the work of Derrick Bell, Paul Brest, Lyle Denniston, Fred Graham, Eugene Gressman, Gerald Gunther, Richard Kluger, Nathan Lewin, Anthony Lewis, John MacKenzie, Michael Meltsner, John Nowak, Ronald Rotunda, Nina Totenberg and Laurence Tribe particularly helpful. We thank them, and countless others on whose writings we have drawn.

Most of the information in this book is based on interviews with more than two hundred people, including several Justices, more than 170 former law clerks, and several dozen former employees of the Court. Chief Justice Warren E. Burger declined to assist us in any way. Virtually all the interviews were conducted “on background,” meaning that the identity of the source will be kept confidential. This assurance of confidentiality to our sources was necessary to secure their cooperation.

The sources who helped us were persons of remarkable intelligence. They had unusually precise recall about the handling of cases that came before the Court, particularly the important ones. However, the core documentation for this book came from unpublished material that was made available to us by dozens of sources who had access to the documents. We obtained internal memoranda between Justices, letters, notes taken at conference, case assignment sheets, diaries, unpublished drafts of opinions and, in several instances, drafts that were never circulated even to the other Justices. By the time we had concluded our research, we had filled eight file drawers with thousands of pages of documents from the chambers of eleven of the twelve Justices who served during the period 1969 to 1976. The sole exception was the chambers of Justice John P. Stevens, who joined the Court during the last six months of the period covered in this book.

For each of the seven terms we describe, we had at least one, usually two, and often three or four reliable sources in each Justice’s chamber, in no case fewer than 20 sources per term. Where documents are quoted, we have had direct access to the originals or to copies. We have attributed thoughts, feelings, conclusions, predispositions and motivations to each of the Justices. This information comes from the Justices themselves, their diaries or memoranda, their statements to clerks or colleagues, or their positions as regularly enunciated in their published Court opinions. No characterization of a Justice could be comprehensive, but we believe those that are provided help explain the decisions and actions.

New documentation about the Burger Court will likely be available in the future. It may support additional interpretations of these events and these men. The account that follows is based on the information and documentation available to us.

Bob Woodward
Scott Armstrong


“A court which is final and unreviewable needs more careful scrutiny than any other. Unreviewable power is the most likely to self-indulge itself and the least likely to engage in dispassionate self-analysis … In a country like ours, no public institution, or the people who operate it, can be above public debate.”

WARREN E. BURGER,
Circuit Court of Appeals Judge, to Ohio Judicial Conference on September 4, 1968—nine months before being named Chief Justice of the United States



Prologue


EARL WARREN, the Chief Justice of the United States, hailed the elevator operator as if he were campaigning, stepped in and rode to the basement of the Supreme Court Building, where the Court limousine was waiting. Warren easily guided his bulky, 6-foot-1-inch, 220-pound frame into the back seat. Though he was seventy-seven, the Chief still had great stamina and resilience.

Four young men got into the car with him that fine November Saturday in 1968. They were his clerks, recent law graduates, who for one year were his confidential assistants, ghost writers, extra sons and intimates. They knew the “Warren Era” was about to end. As Chief Justice for fifteen years, Warren had led a judicial revolution that reshaped many social and political relationships in America. The Warren Court had often plunged the country into bitter controversy as it decreed an end to publicly supported racial discrimination, banned prayer in the public schools, and extended constitutional guarantees to blacks, poor people, Communists, and those who were questioned, arrested or charged by the police. Warren’s clerks revered him as a symbol, the spirit of much that had happened. The former crusading prosecutor, three-term governor of California, and Republican vice-presidential nominee had had, as Chief Justice, a greater impact on the country than most Presidents.

The clerks loved their jobs. The way things worked in the Chief’s chambers gave them tremendous influence. Warren told them how he wanted the cases to come out. But the legal research and the drafting of Court opinions—even those that had made Warren and his Court famous and infamous—were their domain. Warren was not an abstract thinker, nor was he a gifted scholar. He was more interested in the basic fairness of decisions than the legal rationales.

They headed west, downtown, turned into 16th Street and pulled into the circular driveway of the University Club, a private eating and athletic club next to the Soviet Embassy, four blocks north of the White House. The staff was expecting them. This was a Saturday ritual. Warren was comfortable here. His clerks were less so. They never asked him how he could belong to a club that had no black members.

With his clerks in tow, Warren bounded up the thick-carpeted steps to the grill. It was early for lunch, not yet noon, and the room was empty. Warren liked to start promptly so they would have time for drinks and lunch before the football game. They sat in wooden captain’s chairs at a table near the television and ordered drinks. The Chief had his usual gimlet. He was pensive. They ordered another round. Warren reminisced, told political stories, chatted about sports, and then turned to the recent past, to Richard Nixon’s election. The Chief thought it was a catastrophe for the country. He could find no redeeming qualities in his fellow California Republican. Nixon was weak, indirect, awkward and double-dealing, and frequently mean-spirited. Throughout the 1968 presidential campaign, Nixon had run against Warren and his Court as much as he had run against his Democratic rival, Senator Hubert Humphrey. Playing on prejudice and rage, particularly in the South, Nixon had promised that his appointees to the Supreme Court would be different.

It was unlikely that a Nixon Court would reverse all the Warren Court’s decisions. Though Justices John Harlan, Potter Stewart and Byron White had dissented from some of the famous Warren decisions, each of them had strong reservations on the matter of the Court’s reversing itself. They believed firmly in the doctrine of stare decisis—the principle that precedent governs, that the Court is a continuing body making law that does not change abruptly merely because Justices are replaced.

But as Warren and his clerks moved to lunch, the Chief expressed his frustration and his foreboding about a Nixon presidency. Earlier that year, before the election, Warren had tried to ensure a liberal successor by submitting his resignation to President Lyndon B. Johnson. The Senate had rejected Johnson’s nominee, Associate Justice Abe Fortas, as a “crony” of the President. All that had been accomplished was that Nixon now had Warren’s resignation on his desk, and he would name the next Chief Justice.

    Warren was haunted by the prospect. Supreme Court appointments were unpredictable, of course. There was, he told his clerks, no telling what a President might do. He had never imagined that Dwight Eisenhower would pick him in 1953. Ike said he had chosen Warren for his “middle of the road philosophy.” Later Eisenhower remarked that the appointment was “the biggest damned- fool mistake I ever made.”1 Well, Warren said, Ike was no lawyer. The clerks smiled. But Richard Nixon was, and he had campaign promises to fulfill. He must have learned from Eisenhower’s experience. He would choose a man with clearly defined views, an experienced judge who had been tested publicly on the issues. The President would look for a reliable, predictable man who was committed to Nixon’s own philosophy.

“Who?” asked the clerks.

“Why don’t we all write down on a piece of paper who we think the nominee will be?” Warren suggested with a grin.

One clerk tore a sheet of paper into five strips and they sealed their choices in an envelope to be opened after Nixon had named his man.

Warren bent slightly over the polished wooden table to conceal the name he wrote.

Warren E. Burger.

Three months later, on the morning of February 4, 1969, Warren Burger, sixty-one, was in his spacious chambers on the fifth floor of the Court of Appeals on Pennsylvania Avenue, almost midway between the White House and the Supreme Court. President Nixon, who had been in office only two weeks, had invited him to swear in several high-ranking government officials at the White House. When he arrived at the mansion, Burger was instantly admitted at the gate.

Nixon and Burger first met at the Republican National Convention in 1948. Nixon was a freshman Congressman and Burger was floor manager for his home-state candidate, Minnesota Governor Harold Stassen. At the next convention, four years later, Burger played an important role in Eisenhower’s nomination. He was named assistant attorney general in charge of the Claims Division in the Justice Department, and in 1956 he was appointed to the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia.2 On that famously liberal court, Burger became the vocal dissenter whose law-and-order opinions made the headlines. He was no bleeding heart or social activist, but a professional judge, a man of solid achievement.

Now at the White House, the ceremonial swearings-in lasted only a few minutes, but afterward the President invited Burger to the Oval Office. Nixon emphasized the fact that as head of the Executive Branch he was deeply concerned about the judiciary. There was a lot to be done.

Burger could not agree more, he told the President.

Nixon told him that in one of his campaign addresses he had used two points from a speech Burger had given in 1967 at Ripon College in Wisconsin. U.S. News & World Report had reprinted it under the title “What to Do About Crime in U.S.” The men agreed that U.S. News was the country’s best weekly news magazine, a Republican voice in an overwhelmingly liberal press. Burger had brought a copy of the article with him.

In his speech Burger had charged that criminal trials were too often long delayed and subsequently encumbered with too many appeals, retrials and other procedural protections for the accused that had been devised by the courts.

Burger had argued that five-to-ten-year delays in criminal trials undermined the public’s confidence in the judicial system. Decent people felt anger, frustration and bitterness, while the criminal was encouraged to think that his free lawyer would somewhere find a technical loophole that would let him off. He had pointed to progressive countries like Holland, Denmark and Sweden, which had simpler and faster criminal justice systems. Their prisons were better and were directed more toward rehabilitation. The murder rate in Sweden was 4 percent of that in the United States. He had stressed that the United States system was presently tilted toward the criminal and needed to be corrected.

Richard Nixon was impressed. This was a voice of reason, of enlightened conservatism—firm, direct and fair. Judge Burger knew what he was talking about. The President questioned him in some detail. He found the answers solid, reflecting his own views, and supported with evidence. Burger had ideas about improving the efficiency of judges. By reducing the time wasted on routine administrative tasks and mediating minor pretrial wrangles among lawyers, a judge could focus on his real job of hearing cases. Burger also was obviously not a judge who focused only on individual cases. He was concerned about the system, the prosecutors, the accused, the victims of crime, the prisons, the effect of home, school, church and community in teaching young people discipline and respect.

The President was eager to appoint solid conservatives to federal judgeships throughout the country. As chairman of a prestigious American Bar Association committee, Burger had traveled around the country and must know many people who could qualify. The President wanted to appoint men of Burger’s caliber to the federal bench, including the Supreme Court. Though the meeting was lasting longer than he had planned, the President buzzed for his White House counsel, John Ehrlichman.

Ehrlichman came down from his second-floor office in the West Wing. Nixon introduced them. “Judge Burger has brought with him an article that is excellent. Make sure that copies are circulated to others on the White House staff,” Nixon said. He added that Burger had constructive, solid ideas on the judicial system as well as for their anticrime campaign. Judge Burger was a man who had done his homework. “Please make an appointment with him to talk,” the President said, “and put into effect what he says.” The chat had turned into a seventy-minute meeting.

Ehrlichman left, concluding that if ever a man was campaigning for elevation in the judiciary, it was Warren Burger. He was perfect, clearly politically astute, and he was pushing all the right buttons for the President. Burger and Ehrlichman never had their follow-up meeting, but from press accounts and bar association talk, Burger knew that Nixon had designated Attorney General John Mitchell, his former campaign manager and law partner, to help find him new judges, including a new Chief Justice.

Mitchell, Burger understood, was the “heavy hitter,” the one closest to the President. Privately, Burger had expressed doubts to friends whether a New York bond lawyer had the experience to be the nation’s top law-enforcement officer.

On February 18, Mitchell asked for Burger’s help. Shortly thereafter, Burger called at his office in the Justice Department. Knowing that Burger had numerous contacts in legal and judicial circles, Mitchell sought recommendations for nominees to the federal bench. Burger offered some names, and Mitchell wrote down the suggestions. Richard Kleindienst, Mitchell’s deputy, sat in on the end of the hour-long meeting. After Burger left, Mitchell remarked, “In my opinion there goes the next Chief Justice of the United States.”

A month passed. On April 4, Burger wrote a letter to Mitchell on his personal stationery. “In one of our early conversations you asked me to give you my observations on District Judges and others over the country who might warrant consideration for appointment or promotion,” Burger said. He offered three immediate suggestions, adding that “each of these men is especially well qualified.” One of the three names he sent was a federal district judge in Florida, G. Harrold Carswell. Burger also promised to send along other recommendations “from time to time.” Mitchell responded with a thank-you note the same day. Later that month, Burger received an invitation to a White House dinner that the President would give on April 23 to honor Chief Justice Warren.

Burger arrived with his wife at the White House early to have time to look over the guest list. All the important Republicans were there, including Vice President Spiro Agnew, as well as all the Associate Justices of the Supreme Court. Burger was the only lower court judge invited. “If you get a feeling they’re looking us over,” he told his wife, “act natural.”

Supreme Court Justice John Harlan, a conservative Eisenhower appointee, greeted Burger. “I’m glad you’re here,” he said warmly.

The President’s toast to Warren was glowing, and Warren in turn rose to praise Nixon. He was concluding his forty years of public service, he said, with “no malice in my heart.”

The next day, Burger’s long-time archenemy on the appeals court, liberal Chief Judge David L. Bazelon, approached him. Cordially, he pointed out that Burger was the only district or circuit judge at the dinner. “Looks like you’re it,” Bazelon said.

“No,” Burger said, brushing off his old adversary. To Burger, the fifty-nine-year-old Bazelon was a meddler—the self-appointed protector of every racial minority, poor person and criminal defendant.

But Washington reporters had also picked up the possible significance of Burger’s White House invitation and began asking him about it. Burger was humble. He neither knew nor expected anything. Asked about other candidates for Chief Justice whose names were making the rounds, such as Secretary of State William Rogers, Burger downgraded each one. “No, no,” he would tell reporters confidentially, “he wouldn’t be good.” The media made Burger a dark-horse candidate, but there was still a frontrunner— Associate Justice Potter Stewart.

[image: Image]

A week later, the morning of Wednesday, April 30, Stewart arrived at the Supreme Court late. He hated starting early. Stewart had impressive academic and establishment credentials. Born into a distinguished and wealthy family of Ohio Republicans, he had studied at Hotchkiss and Yale University, where he was Phi Beta Kappa and the editor of the Yale Daily News, before enrolling at Yale Law School, where he was a top student. At age thirty-nine he was appointed by Eisenhower to the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals. “I can promise you he is not too old,” a leading Senate supporter had said. Stewart quickly came to love the work. He remarked that it involved “all the fun of practicing law without the bother of clients.” Four years later, in late 1958, Eisenhower elevated Stewart to the Supreme Court, one of the youngest Justices in history. For a decade, he had dissented from most of the major Warren Court opinions. Now, at fifty-four, he was at his prime, perhaps ready for the final step.

That morning Stewart went straight to his chambers, staring at the marble floor, by habit avoiding eye contact with those he met along the way. A shy man, Stewart was of average height and build, with thin brown hair combed straight back from a receding hairline. In the men’s club atmosphere of the Court, Stewart had found a comfortable shelter. The job was nearly perfect, providing both the prominence of a high government post and intellectual satisfaction, without overexertion. Reaching his chambers, he called John Ehrlichman at the White House. Stewart said he wanted a brief appointment with the President.

Ehrlichman called back shortly. Would three o’clock be okay? He fished for a clue, saying that he had told the President only that it was some matter involving the Court. “Was that enough to tell him?”

Yes, that was enough, Stewart said. Now he was committed to meet with the President, but he still had several hours to think. Stewart knew that he had supporters from Ohio, the Middle West and in G.O.P. circles, who were urging that he be made Chief Justice. But did he really want it? Admittedly, he was ambitious, and there had been a certain natural progression to his career, always up, always the best. If he got the job, the new era would become “the Stewart Court.” Technically, the Chief was only first among equals, but the post of Chief Justice had definite prestige.

On the other hand, the Chief’s vote counted no more than that of any of the other eight Justices. The Chief also had the additional chores of administering the Court and managing the building. In terms of pure lawyering, it was better to be an Associate Justice. All law and no nonsense. Did he want to be involved in all the tedious little decisions? To oversee committees and groups like the Judicial Conference, which was a “board of directors” of the federal judiciary and the judges’ lobby? No, he concluded, he did not want to be bothered. If he got the job of Chief, he would rarely see his family and have even less time to relax. His summers at his Bowen Brook Farm in New Hampshire would be disrupted. On a superficial level, there were big plusses. On a deeper level, there were not so many. Less law. More bureaucracy.

There were other considerations. Stewart had seen what President Johnson’s feeble attempt to get his friend Abe Fortas moved from Associate to Chief had done to the Court. There had been other troubled times when Associates had been promoted. Stewart thought two of the most unharmonious times at the Court had been in 1910, when Justice Edward D. White had been made Chief, and again in 1941, when Justice Harlan Fiske Stone was elevated above his peers.

The process of getting confirmed might be both contentious and some fun, Stewart thought. A likely target for critics might be his 1964 opinion ruling that a French film, The Lovers, was not hardcore pornography (Jacobellis v. Ohio). He could not define obscenity, he had written, but “I know it when I see it.” It might not be the height of legal sophistication, but the remark expressed Stewart’s Middle Western pragmatism.

The biggest adjustment would be a loss of privacy. Associate Justices could live private and relatively anonymous lives. Stewart could walk about Washington unnoticed, eat lunch without interruption. There were few autograph seekers. That would change. The job of Chief was considered by some to be the most powerful position after the presidency. There would be another F.B.I. check, a Senate investigation, and hearings before the Senate Judiciary Committee. The press would become more interested in him. He would be in the limelight. And when he got down to it, that was perhaps the biggest problem. When he had been nominated for the Court in 1958, then Deputy Attorney General William Rogers had asked Stewart if there was anything in his past that might embarrass him or the administration. Stewart had thought of some things—an editorial he had written for the Yale Daily News endorsing Democrat Franklin D. Roosevelt for President in 1936; or perhaps that particularly drunken evening in his sophomore year. But nothing serious. Now it was a little different. Was it fair to his family? Would he have to wonder whether his private business might appear in the newspapers, if only in a gossip column?

Stewart left his chambers in plenty of time to be at the White House before 3 P.M. His stomach knotted as he drove through the Washington traffic. He was being awfully presumptuous. The President had not offered him the job. But if he took himself out of the running, he wouldn’t have to deal with temptation if it came. If the position were actually offered, it would be harder to say no. Stewart drove through the White House gates and was escorted into the Oval Office.

Nixon greeted him warmly.

Stewart said that it had been a great thing for the President to have had the dinner for Warren.

The President talked about whom he might pick as his Chief Justice. “Potter,” Nixon said, “there has been an awful lot of support for you.”

Stewart said he knew that there had been speculation, the inevitable lists. But he had come, he said, to tell the President that he didn’t want it, that he didn’t want to be considered, that he wanted to be out of the running.

“Why?” Nixon asked in surprise.

Stewart recited his speech. In his opinion there were inherent, perhaps insurmountable, problems in promoting one of the sitting Justices. Historically it had not worked. The Chief Justice had a special role to play as leader of the Court and it might disturb relationships that had been worked out over the years to appoint one of the eight Associates to be Chief. Promoting a sitting Justice would not be the best way, Stewart said.

Nixon paused. “Let me remember who is on the Court,” he said. First he mentioned the hapless Fortas. Nixon looked at Stewart. Slowly he listed the others.

Fortas, Stewart thought? Was the President thinking of appointing Fortas? No, absolutely not; out of the question. But Stewart realized it was possible that Nixon was thinking of another sitting member. The only other Republican was John Harlan, but he was almost seventy and nearly blind. Perhaps Nixon was thinking of a Democrat?

Stewart mentioned that Roosevelt had elevated Harlan Stone, a Republican, to Chief Justice on the eve of World War II as a non-partisan act of national unity. Maybe that wouldn’t be a bad idea, appointing a Democrat.

Nixon went down the list of Democrats. There was William Brennan, who had been appointed by Eisenhower, and there was Byron White … could Nixon be thinking of White? Unlikely. White had been a Kennedy appointee, and Stewart knew what Nixon thought of the Kennedys.

Then Nixon mentioned Fortas again. Why? Stewart wondered. Why was Nixon bringing up Fortas? Did he want some reaction? Stewart had little to say about Fortas. It was obvious that it had been a mistake for Johnson to attempt the eleventh-hour elevation of his close friend and adviser. It had hurt the Court, had made for strange, uneasy relations among the members. Stewart said it would be better not to put the Court through that again, nominating someone from the ranks. But Stewart was a little uneasy. He mentioned his own position again and, in a general way, the needs and desires of his wife and children, their high regard for privacy. “It would be unfair to my family,” he said.

Nixon said he understood. He asked more questions about the Court and its members. He was keenly interested, concerned about the federal courts. There was much to do, and as President he wanted to help.

Finally the two men stood and shook hands, and Stewart left. The meeting had taken longer than he had expected, but he felt a sense of relief.

As he drove back, Stewart regretted that he had given phony reasons for taking himself out, but it had been necessary to protect his family. It was odd the way the President kept bringing Fortas up. What was that about? Stewart wasn’t sure he had done the right thing, but he felt better than he had felt in a long while.

Nixon was giving a good deal of thought to the Court. He wanted to make good on his campaign pledge to turn it around. Replacing Warren was not enough to break the back of the working Warren majority—which had included Warren himself; Fortas; Thurgood Marshall, the first black member of the Court, who had been appointed by Lyndon Johnson; William J. Brennan, another Eisenhower appointee who had turned out differently than Ike had expected; and William O. Douglas, seventy, a radical libertarian famous for his controversial writings and life, both on and off the bench. Nixon snickered about Douglas’s fourth wife, Cathy, who was twenty-five and a law student. “Some law firm will love to get her,” he told Ehrlichman.

The five-man liberal majority had support on race and civil rights issues from Byron White and Hugo Black. A new conservative Chief Justice, with Stewart and Harlan, the only Republicans on the Court besides Warren, would still give the Court only three “strict constructionists”—those who opposed a sweeping, liberal interpretation of the Constitution. White and Black might join the conservatives in certain criminal cases, but one could never be sure. The President needed at least another seat to turn things around, and Douglas seemed most vulnerable to a quiet administration investigation. On taking office, Nixon lost no time putting various federal agencies to work on it. The Internal Revenue Service began an audit of Douglas’s tax returns only five days after the President’s inauguration. At the same time, the F.B.I. was compiling information on Douglas’s connections with Las Vegas casino owner Albert Parvin. Douglas was a director of the Albert Parvin Foundation. But the Douglas investigations were slow in bearing fruit.

Now, unexpectedly, another track opened up. John Mitchell’s Justice Department was providing assistance to Life magazine in its attempt to establish that in 1966 Abe Fortas had accepted a $20,000 fee from a foundation funded by millionaire industrialist Louis Wolfson.3 At that time Wolfson had been under investigation by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and had apparently bragged that his friend Fortas was going to use his influence to help. Wolfson was indicted and later convicted, and Fortas secretly returned the $20,000.

When Nixon was informed of the investigation, he realized that Fortas’s actions were perhaps not necessarily criminal. But there was an opportunity not only to get Fortas off the Court but to discredit his strident liberalism. The Fortas investigation became one of Mitchell’s first action projects, and Nixon demanded almost minute-by-minute reports, personally calling the shots from the Oval Office.

On May 1, Mitchell received a memo from Assistant Attorney General William H. Rehnquist. If Fortas had helped Wolfson, it said, they could prosecute him. The next day, May 2, Ehrlichman received a single copy of the advance proofs of the Life article. Spread over six pages, it was headlined, “Fortas of the Supreme Court: A Question of Ethics.” Mitchell had an aide call every major news organization in town to alert them. When the article was released on Sunday afternoon, May 4, Washington exploded. Republicans called for impeachment. Democrats and liberals were stunned.

But Nixon didn’t want an impeachment. It would take too long and might in the end hurt the Court. All Nixon wanted was Fortas’s seat, and he wanted it intact, not devalued. Resignation was the obvious short cut. With the departure of Fortas and Warren, Nixon could name two justices. That would end the control of the liberals. In his first year, he would have altered the character of the Court.

On Tuesday, May 6, Wolfson surrendered to government investigators a document that showed that the $20,000 was not a one-time payment. The Wolfson Foundation had agreed to pay Fortas $20,000 a year for the rest of his life, or to his widow for as long as she lived.

When Mitchell arrived at Dulles Airport at 1:30 A.M. after a trip to New York, his aides showed him the documents. Mitchell was incredulous. He thought they might be phony. He was assured they were not. The news was forwarded to the President. Nixon and Mitchell agreed that the Attorney General should go to Earl Warren. With the Congress and editorial writers howling for Fortas’s head, pressure from inside the Court might force the issue.

Entering the Court through the basement garage, Mitchell called on Warren in his chambers at eleven-thirty Wednesday morning. The meeting was to be confidential. Laying out the documents in his possession and referring to others, Mitchell outlined the developing case against Fortas. There was not only the contract specifying the annual payment, but he was about to obtain some Wolfson-Fortas correspondence in which the S.E.C. case was discussed. In one letter Wolfson asked Fortas’s help in obtaining a presidential pardon.

Warren thanked Mitchell and said that he appreciated the information. Mitchell mentioned how embarrassing this was for everyone. Approaching the subject delicately, he said that if Fortas were to resign voluntarily, the criminal investigation would “die of its own weight.” An investigation would harm both Fortas and the Court more than a resignation would. Warren got the message.

From the beginning, Warren had been appalled at the disclosures about Fortas and had felt that Fortas must quit. The argument was now more compelling. After securing the support of several of the other Justices, Warren launched a week-long campaign to get Fortas to resign. Only Douglas resisted overtly. He had been Fortas’s professor and mentor at Yale Law School and later in Washington. Douglas himself had discussed retiring, but, loath to give Nixon a seat to fill, he decided not to retire while the Court was still under attack.

Nonetheless Douglas was surprised by Fortas’s transgression. “God, how did Abe do such a stupid thing?” Douglas asked.

In Warren’s view, Fortas had two problems that had led him to such indiscretion. As a private lawyer in Washington and a known intimate of the President, Fortas had made a fortune. He had had to take almost a 90 percent cut in salary when he came to the Court, and he had not wanted to alter his life style.

Second, Warren concluded, as a bright man who had come to Washington during the New Deal, Fortas had made rules for others to follow, but had never thought they applied to him.

There were meetings and some heated sessions, and one week later, on Wednesday, May 14, Fortas sat down in his office and drafted his letter of resignation. He understood that all the evidence would be locked away. Jubilant, Nixon called Fortas to express his sympathy.

It was over for Fortas, but now two other Court liberals— Douglas and Brennan—came under attack for off-the-bench financial activities. Douglas was criticized for his $12,000-a-year directorship on the Albert Parvin Foundation. After thirty years on the Court, Douglas was accustomed to political attack. But the Fortas affair cast things in a different light. He decided to resign from the Foundation post on May 21.

Some conservatives went after the sixty-three-year-old Brennan. News stories had raised questions about a $15,000 real-estate investment he had with Fortas and some lower court judges, including Bazelon. Brennan was hurt by the criticism. He had grown up on the poor side of Newark and learned the rough-and-tumble of politics from his father, an Irish immigrant who was by turn a union leader, a Democratic politician, and a police commissioner. After a brief tenure with a private law firm, Brennan served as a state trial, and then an appellate court, judge. In 1956, Eisenhower elevated him from the New Jersey State Supreme Court to the U.S. Supreme Court. Brennan’s life was a model of upward mobility through conscientious public service. He was furious at the press for implying that his review of decisions by other judges would be influenced by the fact that they shared common investments. He suspected that the attack was led by those who resented his central role in the Warren Court, his unflagging support for unions and civil rights groups, and his votes restricting the powers of police.

In May, Brennan decided to lower his profile. “Well, guys,” he said, walking into his clerks’ office, “I’m eliminating all this.” He formally canceled all future speaking plans, gave up his interest in the real-estate venture, sold his stock, quit his part-time summer teaching post at New York University, and even resigned from a board at Harvard University. He gave up every activity except the Court, his family and the Church.

One clerk who felt Brennan was overreacting asked him jokingly: “Did you write the Pope?”

Brennan, the Court’s only Catholic, was not amused.

The weekend after the Fortas resignation, Nixon was at Camp David, the presidential retreat in Maryland. With the liberals dazed by the Fortas revelations, it was time to choose his Chief Justice, perhaps the most important decision he would make as President. Mitchell had prepared a list of appeals court judges. Nixon wanted someone with judicial experience, someone whose views were fully predictable, not a crony or political friend, someone with integrity and administrative ability. Someone young enough to serve at least ten years.

Warren E. Burger.

On May 19, the President instructed Mitchell to begin the necessary F.B.I. investigation and report back at once. Burger checked out. On Wednesday, May 21, Nixon told Mitchell to offer Burger the appointment formally.

Only in Mitchell’s office did Warren Burger learn that he was to be named Chief Justice of the United States. He accepted at once. A regular appointment to the Court would have been enough. Chief was incredible. Already he felt a kinship with these people, with Mitchell and Nixon. They were the men who had taken over the national government, and they had selected him over all others.

Nixon was obsessed with keeping the nomination secret until he could announce it on national television that night. Burger would be smuggled into the White House. They would stride before the cameras together. There would be no leak. The President was stage manager. He sent an aide out to bring Burger and his family in, and he organized the transportation, the timing, the sequence. Watching, Ehrlichman thought Nixon seemed as interested in the secrecy as he was in the appointment. Apparently Nixon felt that if he could make the announcement before a leak occurred, he would have outwitted the press.

Burger went home to prepare his family, making sure that everyone looked proper for the ceremony. They were picked up about 6 P.M., driven to the Treasury Department and guided down to the basement and through a long steam tunnel. They made their way to the White House and came up in an elevator at 6:57, three minutes before air time.

The President was waiting. He walked over to Burger.

“Well, will you take the job?” Nixon asked.

Burger paused. “You know, I know that question is somewhat facetious,” he said. “But as I thought about it this afternoon, I had some concern.” Of course he would accept, but he recognized that he was undertaking a tremendous responsibility.

As they stood chatting, Burger said: “Sometime when we have more time to talk, I want to thank you for this.”

Nixon said he wanted the Burgers to come up for coffee after the ceremony to meet the Cabinet members and their wives. He added nervously, “I wanted to apologize for the fact that we couldn’t have you to dinner because it would be too many.”

“Don’t worry about that, Mr. President,” Burger said. “After what happened to me this afternoon, I am just going home to bed.”

At 7 P.M. Nixon and Burger walked before the cameras. The next morning, the appointment was the lead story in every newspaper. New York Times columnist James Reston wrote that Burger was “experienced, industrious, middle-class, middle-aged, middle-of-the-road, Middle-Western, Presbyterian, orderly, and handsome.” He took note of the liberals’ and intellectuals’ distress and added that “the old-boy network is grieving that the President did not elevate Associate Justice Stewart to the top job.” The New York Times also quoted an unnamed judge who had worked with Burger on the Court of Appeals: “[Burger] is a very emotional guy, who somehow tends to make you take the opposition position on issues. To suggest that he can bring the Court together—as hopefully a Chief Justice should—is simply a dream.”

Many who knew Burger’s old foe, Bazelon, suspected that the comment was his. But Bazelon denied having talked to the press. “I was speechless and sick for a week,” he said.

Burger stayed home to avoid the reporters who had gathered at the bottom of the driveway of his Arlington, Virginia, home. He requested that the reporters and cameramen be kept off the fifth floor at the Court of Appeals, where his office was, even though he was staying away. Later, he learned that the lobby had been filled with the press despite his request. “The only way they could have gotten in is Bazelon,” Burger told his staff. “If I can prove it’s true, I’ll punch him in the nose.”

Burger expected that his confirmation hearing before the Senate Judiciary Committee, which had to approve the nomination before it would be passed to the full Senate, might be a bloody battle. He envisioned a whole confederation of liberal interest groups planning to tear into him. “They’re out to get me,” he told his clerks as he brooded over the prospect. The opposition included Bazelon, the other liberals on the U.S. Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia, and some liberal Justices like Brennan. It also included the young coat carriers, who seemed to rotate from a clerkship with Bazelon to a clerkship at the Court, perhaps for Brennan, before taking a job on the Hill, where they were always whispering into the ears of liberals like Senator Edward M. Kennedy at hearings.

Burger was sure that Kennedy would lead the opposition on the Senate Judiciary Committee. As a Republican nominee before a heavily Democratic Senate, he would be hard pressed. Nixon’s pronouncements about changing the Court were an open challenge to the liberals.

Burger went to discuss the confirmation process with the chairman of the committee, Senator James O. Eastland of Mississippi. The aging conservative was a sure supporter. Eastland recommended that Burger use Eastland’s own personal attorney, Roger Robb, already a close friend of Burger’s, to assist him in the hearings. Burger took the advice. With Robb, he set up an office in the Watergate office complex, where they assembled records and previous opinions and tried to anticipate what curves the liberals might throw at Burger. They also gathered support from the organized bar associations, from law school deans, and from influential private attorneys.

Burger went to the Supreme Court one day and stopped by to see Brennan, the consensus builder in the Warren Court. Burger knew it was Brennan, with his instinct and passion for political maneuvering, who was the key strategist among the liberal bloc on the Warren Court. As Burger entered Brennan’s chambers along the south corridor, he walked through the office used by Brennan’s law clerks. There, hanging on a wall, was a grotesque rubber mask of Nixon, a souvenir of the counterinaugural demonstration that had been staged by antiwar activists and others opposed to the President. He recognized one of Brennan’s clerks as a Bazelon clerk of the previous year. The clerk was scheduled to begin work for Kennedy on the Senate Judiciary Committee at the end of the term.

Learning that Brennan was not in the office, Burger turned to leave. On the inside of the door there was a Black Power poster with the clenched, raised fist. Burger sensed what he was up against. Brennan’s law clerks did not share his values. They were part of a different world. Bazelon to Brennan to Kennedy.

On Tuesday, June 3, two weeks after his nomination, the Senate Judiciary Committee opened hearings. Burger was ready as the session opened at 10:35 A.M. Behind him in the audience sat six past presidents of the American Bar Association, eleven past presidents of the Federal Bar Association, and twelve past presidents of the District of Columbia Bar Association. All were prepared to speak in support of his nomination.

Burger was offered a few easy questions by Eastland and other members of the committee. Finally, from his hunched position, Eastland turned to the man Burger was certain would present him with a problem. “Senator Kennedy,” Eastland mumbled.

“No questions, Mr. Chairman,” Kennedy replied in his confident Boston accent.

Each Senator took his turn, and there was not a word of criticism. The members seemed almost to compete with each other to praise Burger and take shots at the Warren Court. The hearing was adjourned in less than two hours. Burger was ecstatic. The committee unanimously recommended his confirmation to the Senate. Six days later the Senate voted 74 to 3 to confirm him. The process from nomination to confirmation had taken only eighteen days.

A week later, only one week before he would be sworn in as Chief Justice, Burger was in his office at the Court of Appeals when he got some very distressing news. The Supreme Court had announced that it had overruled his Court of Appeals decision in a case involving the flamboyant New York black Congressman Adam Clayton Powell. The vote was an overwhelming 7 to 1, with Stewart the lone dissenter. Warren himself had written the majority opinion (Powell v. McCormack). The press would have a field day.

The House of Representatives had voted to deny Powell his seat because he had flouted a slander judgment and allegedly had misused funds. Burger’s opinion, one of three separate ones, held for the House against Powell. Powell had appealed to the Supreme Court, and now Warren had declared for a heavy majority that Congress could not deny the Congressman his seat. The reversal was a typical example of the Warren Court’s activism—mere meddling in Burger’s view. He had already been overruled twice that year, but this was the first time since his nomination. There should have been some way for Warren to avoid a direct slap at him, perhaps with an unsigned opinion. Being reversed by the Supreme Court, however, would soon be a thing of the past. He could take comfort in that. In one more week, the Warren era would be over.

Burger vowed to himself that he would grasp the reins of power immediately. David Bazelon would be his model. For the past six years he had watched enviously as Bazelon used his position as Chief Judge to serve his own philosophy. As spokesman for the Court of Appeals, as its senior judge and chief administrator, Bazelon was able to assign extra law clerks, and control the office space, supplies and accouterments that make working conditions a pleasure or an annoyance. His influence with his colleagues, and especially the new judges, was legendary. They fell all too easily under his spell. For Burger, that too was now an old battle, a thing of the past.

Later that week, Burger left his office in the Court of Appeals and went out to Pennsylvania Avenue to meet the Solicitor General Erwin N. Griswold, the man responsible for arguing the federal government’s cases before the Supreme Court. Griswold had the presidential commission, signed by the President and the Attorney General, that appointed Burger. It was to be delivered to the Court before the swearing-in.

Griswold and Burger took a cab to the Court, where Warren greeted them in his chambers. The Powell case was apparently on his mind. “I hated to decide for Powell,” Warren told them.

Griswold thought Warren was going to explain the difficulty and awkwardness in overruling the next Chief Justice—perhaps apologize, saying that, of course, he had to call them as he saw them. Instead, Warren told them that he didn’t like Powell and regretted having to decide in his favor. Powell was a disgrace, Warren said. But as a matter of law, it would be impossible to let Congress exclude members in such fashion. In denying Powell his seat, Congress had asserted an absolute and unreviewable right to determine who was suited to sit, contrary to what the Constitution said. “It was perfectly clear,” Warren remarked. “There was no other way to decide it. Anybody could see that.”

My God, Griswold thought, Warren must not realize that Burger was one of the lower court judges he had just overruled. Griswold knew Warren did not write his own opinions, but was he so out of touch? Griswold carefully avoided looking at Burger. He would have smiled, and perhaps Burger would not think it one bit funny. The meeting was soon over and as they walked out, Burger good-naturedly shrugged off Warren’s comment. “He certainly didn’t give me much credit for what I did in the Adam Clayton Powell case,” he told Griswold.

Burger had heard that Warren delegated the writing of his opinions to his clerks. That was only one of the many practices that he was going to stop. As far as he was concerned, the Warren legend was a fabrication. He thought Warren was sloppy, politically motivated, interested more in results than in legal reasoning. He was a man playing to get himself a place in history, a man without intellectual honesty. Burger used to talk scornfully to his clerks about Warren’s liberalism. It was late in coming, he said. Warren had been aligned with the right wing of the Republican party in California and was supposedly a states’ rights champion. As governor he had strongly supported the internment of Japanese-Americans during World War II. As district attorney, he had authorized offshore searches of questionable legality outside the three-mile limit. Burger told his clerks that Warren was “right-wing when it paid to be right-wing, then had shifted when that became fashionable.”

On June 23, Burger joined the members of the Court, the President, Attorney General Mitchell, other ranking Justice Department officials, including F.B.I. Director J. Edgar Hoover, and members of the legal and Republican law-enforcement establishment for his swearing-in at the Supreme Court.

Since it was the last day of the term, the Warren Court first handed down its three final opinions. The decisions, all involving criminal cases, effectively overruled three more conservative precedents. They were precisely the kinds of opinions that Nixon had campaigned against.

Nixon, dressed in a formal cutaway, showed no emotion. When the last opinion was read, Warren recognized the President. Nixon stepped to the podium. “There is only one ordeal which is more challenging than a presidential press conference, and that is to appear before the Supreme Court.” He reviewed Warren’s career and praised the Chief Justice. But, he added, “The Chief Justice has established a record here in this Court which will be characterized in many ways.”

In response, Warren gave a lecture—his last words from the bench—which seemed directed at Nixon. There was acid in the oblique graciousness. His theme was continuity. “I might point out to you, and you might not have looked into the matter, that it is a continuing body … the Court develops the eternal principles of our Constitution in accordance with the problems of the day.” It was Warren’s way of saying that Richard Nixon too would pass. The Court, Warren said, serves only “the public interest,” is guided solely by the Constitution and the “conscience” of the individual Justices. He was stepping down, Warren said, with a feeling of “deep friendship” for the other Justices “in spite of the fact that we have disagreed on so many things.

“So I leave in a happy vein, Mr. President, and I wish my successor all the happiness and success in his years on the Court, which I hope will be many.”



1969 Term


BY JULY, Chief Justice Warren Burger was in his new offices. With three months before the start of the new term, and the other Justices spending the recess at home or on vacation, he intended to consolidate his power. First, he would assume control of the building itself. On July 19, Burger, in shirt sleeves, assembled his law clerks and the Marshal—the top administrative and business officer of the Court—for a tour of the large building.

Beginning in his own small office Burger remarked that it was smaller than his old one at the Court of Appeals. More distressing was the absence of an adjoining office that could be used as a workroom. As Chief Justice he was third in protocol as official representative of the United States government after the President and Vice-President. He would receive ambassadors and visiting dignitaries. “How can I entertain heads of state?” he asked, pointing to his relatively cramped quarters. It would never do. What would his guests think?

Passing through the secretaries’ outer office, the procession stepped through to the most secret place of the Court, the conference room where the nine Justices met to vote and decide cases. Few outsiders had seen the conference room during the Warren years. No person—clerk, staff member or secretary—was in attendance when the Justices met, usually on Fridays, to discuss cases and take initial votes.

Burger surveyed this large, oak-paneled room and its rich carpet. A twelve-foot-long table covered in green felt stood in the center of the room under a splendid chandelier, and was surrounded by nine handsome high-backed green leather swivel chairs. A brass nameplate on the back of each chair identified its occupant. The Chief Justice sat at one end of the table, the senior Associate Justice at the other. The other Associates sat three on one side, four on the other. Now this room, the Chief said, is perfect for entertaining guests. He told the group that in the original architect’s plans, the room had been intended for the Chief Justice. Perhaps the conferences might be better in larger, more formal settings, the East and West conference rooms on the other side of the building. It might be more appropriate in that “neutral corner,” Burger said. Then this room could become the Chief Justice’s ceremonial office. He could also use it as a private dining room. Next, Burger led the group across the corridor to the courtroom proper. They entered from behind the bench, as the Justices did when they came to hear oral arguments or announce decisions. Burger stepped down to the pit in front of the mammoth bench. The large dignified room, with its dark-red curtains, had twenty-four marble columns rising forty-four feet, cathedral-like, to a sculpted marble panel.

The new Chief stepped to the podium from which the attorneys argued their cases to the nine Justices—without witnesses and without introduction of evidence.

Oral advocacy is an art, Burger remarked. He recalled that he had stood in the same spot when he was in the Justice Department, sixteen years ago, and had argued one of the most celebrated cases of the time for the United States government. The Solicitor General, Simon Sobeloff, had refused to argue a case that involved John Peters, a Yale University professor of medicine, who had been found disloyal and dismissed as a consultant to the Public Health Service (Peters v. Hobby). The finding of disloyalty had been based on anonymous accusations. Sobeloff should have resigned, Burger said, rather than refuse to argue his client’s case, even though the client was the government. Sobeloff had become a great hero to the liberals and civil libertarians. But Burger’s Justice Department bosses were pleased with his loyalty. That was probably the reason, Burger said, why he was rewarded with a seat on the Court of Appeals three years later. He didn’t mention that he had lost the Peters case.

Lingering now, and reminiscing, the Chief told them how he got the job as head of the Claims Division in the Justice Department in the first place. While acting as Stassen’s floor manager at the 1952 Republican convention, he had helped the Eisenhower forces in a crucial credentials battle.

Burger pointed to the Justices’ nine high-backed black leather chairs. Each Justice chose his own, and the sizes and styles varied. Some were nearly a foot taller than others. Douglas’s was tufted, the others were smooth. It looked unseemly, disorderly, Burger said. In the future only one kind of chair would be available.

Still at the podium, his eyes fixed on the bench, Burger remembered an interchange with Justice Hugo Black during the Peters case. He pointed to the center of the bench. A question had come from there, and he was answering it when suddenly another question had come from the end. With the Justices all in a straight line at a straight bench, they could not see or hear each other. That situation should be changed, he said, by curving the bench so each Justice could see his colleagues. The acoustics in the large room also were poor. That too should be corrected, he said, perhaps by installing microphones. The clerks fidgeted. Finally one of them suggested that the Associate Justices might be upset if the Chief went ahead with remodeling plans in their absence. Burger ignored him.

They walked to the outer corridor on the first floor onto which each Justice’s suite of offices, known as chambers, faced. As they strolled along, Burger pointed out various problems—places in need of repainting, inadequate lighting; he would order a lighting study. There was poor utilization of office space; he would order a formal study of the use of space in the entire building. A few plants would bring life to the barren, gloomy halls. The telephone system was ancient, and the operators used old-fashioned plug-in switchboards. The cafeteria was old and run-down. There was no photocopying equipment, so the junior Justices got unreadably faint carbon copies. There were no electric typewriters that produced print-quality letters and memos. Outside, the landscaping was lackluster, and the guards did not have the snap and attentiveness of those at the White House.

In fact, Burger concluded, the Supreme Court Building with its fine workmanship, its columns, its brass doors and best wood was as grand as the White House, but it had not been kept up. A top-to-bottom reorganization was needed. The nineteenth-century administrative system might be charming, but it was inefficient. The tour lasted two hours.

While on the Court of Appeals, Burger had enjoyed lunching regularly with his clerks. On July 21, he took his Supreme Court clerks in his limousine to one of his favorite spots, the National Lawyers Club. The quiet atmosphere allowed him to unwind, to reflect and think ahead. That afternoon he was full of political reminiscences about Ike, Bill Rogers and Harold Stassen. He missed politics, he said. The press had been unfair to Ike, claiming he lacked intelligence, and to Stassen as well, making him a political joke because of his persistent and unsuccessful tries for the presidency. Newspapers manipulated the news to fit the editors’ views. Take The Washington Post. For the last decade the editors had maintained a policy of keeping the names of the conservative and moderate appeals court judges out of the paper. At the same time the paper had played up the decisions of the liberals, especially Bazelon. The clerks were skeptical. The Chief insisted that a reporter recently departed from the Post had assured him that it was the case. The New York Times and the Post were anti-Nixon, pro-Bazelon and therefore anti-Burger. Both papers had attacked him. They were not reconciled to his appointment and would continue to snipe. The Christian Science Monitor had been ordered as the newspaper for his chambers.

His mood lightened, and he said he was happy with the way things were getting organized. He wanted to move his desk and other office furniture into the conference room and get settled in as quickly as possible. When the other Justices returned, they would be confronted with a fait accompli. Burger’s clerks were astonished that he would try such a move without consulting the others. He seemed to be moving toward a needless confrontation.4

Back at his office, Burger saw another opportunity to accomplish something where his predecessor had failed. Warren and his Court had alienated Congress over the years, particularly the older, powerful, conservative committee chairmen, who didn’t like the Court’s decisions and resented Warren’s aloofness.

Burger phoned Representative John Rooney, Chairman of the House subcommittee that controlled the Court’s spending. Warren had said privately that the crusty, gravel-voiced, sixty-five-year-old Rooney was “dictatorial and vengeful.” Burger decided to charm him. The Court needed more law clerks. Rooney told Burger that Warren had requested nine more, one for each Justice. That was too many, Rooney said. Three might be a more reasonable request.

Three would be fine, Burger said.

Rooney said that as a special favor he would see if he could get the House to approve the three additional clerks.

Burger thanked Rooney for the effort.

Three days later, on July 14, the House approved three new clerks, and Rooney took to the floor to praise the new Chief Justice. The country, Rooney told his colleagues, “is in good hands when we are in the hands of Chief Justice Warren Burger….”

At the Court, Burger told his clerks of his success. The lobbying and his willingness to compromise had paid off.

On July 29, Burger decided to make a move to put a damper on Warren’s recent drive to impose a rigorous code of ethics for federal judges. Warren’s original interest had gained some currency in the wake of the Fortas affair. But it was a tempest in a teapot, Burger said. He drafted a strong letter to the lower court judge who headed a committee that Warren had set up to formulate a code of ethics. Codes of ethics merely drew undue attention to minor problems, Burger wrote, and they gave the press more ammunition to depict judges as crooks.

Newspapers had published details about $6,000 in fees that Burger had received in the last three years as a trustee of the Mayo Foundation, which operated the Mayo Clinic in Rochester, Minnesota. The ethics question had been overheated both by Warren and the press, Burger felt. He was determined to cool it off.

In early August, the Chief turned his attention to selecting the three law clerks who were to be added to the Court. They were going to solve a problem—lack of staff. The Court was flooded each year with thousands of petitions from people who did not have attorneys and could not pay the $100 filing fee for review. The petitions might be jotted on notebook leaves or on scraps of paper. They were sometimes illegible and often incomprehensible.

These petitions constituted the bulk of the approximately five thousand that came to the Court each year. They were called in forma pauperis petitions, or “I.F.P.’s.” The Court got only one copy of each, rather than the forty that were required of those able to pay. Most of the I.F.P.’s were from prisoners who alleged a violation of their constitutional rights. All the Justices agreed that only a few petitions had merit, but Burger thought that all I.F.P.’s were a waste of time. In a 1965 Court of Appeals opinion (Williams v. U.S.), he had denounced the “Disneyland” contentions of those who had been found guilty and were still trying to get out of jail by raising technical objections.

The office of the Chief Justice was responsible for these I.F.P.’s. Generally, the petitions themselves did not go to each Justice. The Chief’s clerks wrote one-page summaries of each, and these were circulated to the other chambers. If the clerk who handled the petition believed the claim to be particularly meritorious, the whole petition might be circulated. The preparation of the summaries was tedious work, but the Warren Court had granted hearings in a few cases. They had in some cases been simply vehicles for the Warren liberals to “discover” some new right for prisoners or criminals in Burger’s view.

As he was getting the Chief’s chambers organized, Burger’s head law clerk reviewed a copy of a thirty-three-page set of instructions Warren had written for his law clerks that included a guide on how to prepare these I.F.P. memos. Burger’s clerk edited the guide and sent it to the Chief for his okay.

Burger found no problems until he got to page 17, the section dealing with the clerks’ responsibilities in preparing the summaries of the I.F.P.’s. Such summaries, the memo said, should pull together and accurately set forth the facts, issues and legal arguments that each petitioner had tried to make.

“Your secondary function,” Warren’s memo said, “is to present the arguments which petitioner could make based upon the facts of the case. That is, inasmuch as the I.F.P. petitioners generally do not have counsel, it is necessary for you to be their counsel, in a sense.”

The Chief called in his head clerk. What’s this? Burger demanded. This was a court, not the office of the public defender. That might be the way Warren’s clerks operated, but it was not what his would do, Burger stated firmly. The Court was already overworked. It needn’t look for more work. If some poor devil missed a point that might get his petition reviewed by the Court, well, that was his problem. In criminal cases, these people had already been found guilty and were looking for technicalities and loopholes to escape their just punishment. This secondary function would be ignored, Burger declared. Only arguments that had been identified by the petitioner would be summarized and sent to the other chambers.

Burger’s clerks believed he had effectively devastated the Court’s role as the last bastion of hope for these people. Without knowing any law, most petitioners had little chance of catching the Court’s attention. The I.F.P.’s, however, were only one example, in Burger’s view, of how law clerks had come to have too much power and influence.

He knew from his days at the Court of Appeals how clerks occasionally worked their little subterfuges. They could not be trusted to exercise proper judgment. Something had to be done about the clerk network. To combat this traditional underground inter-chamber communications system that Burger viewed as a rumor mill, he modified a memo on confidentiality from the previous term at the Court of Appeals. It was issued by his own senior clerk on August 12, only to his own law clerks.

CONFIDENTIAL
LAW CLERK MEMORANDUM—THE CONFIDENTIALITY OBLIGATION

… The confidentiality is not limited to the minimum and obvious aspect of preserving the security of all information within the Court. Equally important is the private nature of everything that transpires in the Chambers of the Justice, including what he says, what he thinks, whom he sees and what his thinking may be on a particular issue or case.

The memo noted that during the year, there develops “a communal professional life somewhat comparable to a large law firm.” The various chambers, however, are not members of the same law firm, but rather different law offices coincidentally occupying the same building.

… some Clerks at times have had a tendency to develop a collective “Law Clerks’” decision to resolve cases on the merits before the Justices themselves have worked out the answers. Of special importance in this regard is the conversation which takes place in the Law Clerk Dining Room. Law Clerks generally view the lunch period as a unique opportunity to exchange insights and stories about their Justices. It has been customary for Law Clerks to discuss with one another the most intimate of matters relating to their Justices with the understanding that none of what is said shall go beyond the four walls of the Dining Room. While such conversation can be both educational and entertaining for the Law Clerks, the extent to which such information is not carried beyond the Dining Room is questionable.

Some of Burger’s clerks thought the memo was reasonable so far. It continued:

Any matters of a confidential nature which tend to place the Chief Justice in an unfavorable light should not be revealed to other Law Clerks.

Despite the avowed confidentiality of the lunchroom, the possibility of unfavorable information being “leaked” to other Justices requires the Chief’s Law Clerks to be reticent.

The Chief was worried not about leaks to outsiders, but about his clerks telling tales that would “leak” to his colleagues.

It is likely that information received from a Justice’s own Law Clerk will both diminish his effectiveness with his colleagues and damage his public image more grievously than information received from other sources if only because it will be more highly credited.

Why would he assume that anything his clerks said would be negative? one of his clerks asked.

The Chief “does not want his views on a case—or those of his law clerk(s)—made known outside his Chambers until his final position is reached.”

So, Burger’s clerks were permitted to talk only to each other. They realized that they had just been dealt out of much of the fun and meaning of their clerkship, head-on discussions about votes and positions. They knew that traditionally clerks communicated openly and freely with their peers in order to better serve their Justice. Dissents had to be responsible to the majority opinions and vice versa. Research could be productively shared, language suggestions exchanged. These things were part of the process of improving their boss’s final opinions. The next sentence took some of that away.

The Chief’s clerks are not to reveal which opinions they are personally working on…. The Chief Justice has a strict rule that suggestions are to be accepted from other offices only after another Justice has first considered the matter and then communicated directly and formally to the Chief Justice.

So they couldn’t negotiate with the other clerks. No one could be told anything, and no other chambers would receive advance soundings on the Chief’s initial conclusions. They were to work under a bell jar, away from the flow of ideas and argument. The Chief, they concluded, had a view of the Court that implied that such interchanges corrupted rather than enlightened. Their disaffection grew. It was as if the Chief had prepackaged legal values and did not want the normal give-and-take to sway either him or his clerks. Even to Burger’s clerks, the memo reflected his deep insecurity over control and a fear that somehow the clerks would try to manipulate him.

Burger had one more summer project. Earl Warren had feuded with and alienated the major organization of lawyers in the country, the American Bar Association. In 1958, the A.B.A. convention held in London included a committee report condemning the Warren Court for comforting the Communists and treading on states’ rights. Warren had responded by resigning from the association, becoming one of the few prominent lawyers in the country who were not members.

Resolved to reopen the lines of communication to the organized legal establishment, Burger attended the A.B.A.’s summer convention in Dallas. It could help him, and he could help it. He agreed to give four speeches. Introducing himself as “Warren Burger,” he circulated through the crowds, hand outstretched. Everyone jostled to get close. Burger, the country’s number-one judge, was on the hustings. He savored the role, buttonholing, glad-handing, softening his image as the “law and order” judge. He dined privately with Mitchell and the A.B.A. president. His speeches and private talks were calculatedly moderate and drew standing ovations. There was a message. A new “partnership” had been born among lawyers, judges, and law professors, for so long considered separate components of the legal world, often with sharply differing views. The Chief promised to attend A.B.A. sessions “for the rest of my days.”

After the convention, Burger flew to Los Angeles to attend a dinner that President Nixon was giving to honor the first astronauts to have walked on the moon.

On August 29, Hugo Black was resting in his landmark federal house in the Old Town section of Washington’s suburb of Alexandria, Virginia. Black’s chambers had just received a petition requesting that he intervene to prevent delay of racial desegregation in thirty-three Mississippi school districts (Alexander v. Holmes County Board of Education). He was being asked to act alone as the supervisory Justice for the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, which covered the Deep South. Each Supreme Court Justice was assigned to one or more of the eleven federal appeals courts, and was responsible for dealing with special and emergency petitions.

At eighty-three, Black was the Court’s oldest Associate Justice and its senior member. Thirty-one annual pictures of the Justices circled the wall above the bookshelves in the second-story study of his house. Shriveled and slightly stooped, Black had for years amazed everyone with his vitality. Until the previous month, he had played several sets of tennis each day on his private court. But now he was about to begin his thirty-second term in rather poor health. He had recently suffered a stroke while playing tennis, a fact that had not become public. He had recovered quickly, but the illness had left him weaker. He also had trouble remembering things that had just happened.

Black, born in Clay County, Alabama, only twenty-one years after the end of the Civil War, was an ardent, almost militant, supporter of school desegregation. He had generally approved the efforts of the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals over the last fifteen years to implement the Supreme Court’s desegregation decisions. The day before, the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals had abruptly reversed course.

Earlier in the summer, the appeals court had asked the U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare to submit desegregation plans for the thirty-three school districts so it could order them implemented at the beginning of the school year. H.E.W. was in charge of drawing up the plans as mandated under the 1964 Civil Rights Act, and had submitted them on time. At the last minute, however, both H.E.W. and the Justice Department had asked for extensions until December 1, because, they claimed, the plans had been hastily prepared and would result in “chaos, confusion, and a catastrophic educational setback.” It was the first time the federal government had supported a desegregation delay in the federal courts. To Black’s astonishment and dismay, the Fifth Circuit had granted the delay, deferring to H.E.W.’s technical expertise. What was more, no specific date for implementing the plans for the actual desegregation had been set. Black saw the administration’s move as Nixon’s payoff to the South. This was part of the so-called “Southern Strategy” that had helped Nixon win the presidential election.

In spite of the Court’s historic 1954 ruling (Brown v. Board of Education I) that segregated schools were unconstitutional, a great majority of schools in the Deep South had circumvented desegregation. A bitter fifteen-year battle had dragged the federal courts into disputes over the details of various desegregation plans. While the bickering continued, the schools remained segregated. There had been some progress in recent years, mostly in the border states, and largely as a result of prodding by H.E.W. and the Justice Department. A series of Supreme Court decisions during the last decade had nullified many of the evasive tactics that school boards had used to fight actual desegregation.

Black fretted over the Nixon administration’s go-slow policy. Nixon’s pronouncements during his campaign, as well as the winks, nods and private assurances, had fueled another drive of Southern resistance. Now the South had another excuse for delay and, it appeared, a powerful ally. So long as the government and the courts were involved in debating plans, there would be protracted litigation. The pace had already been far too slow.

Black loved the South. A staunch New Dealer and a Southern populist, he was Alabama’s senior Senator in 1937, when Roosevelt chose him for the Court. As a young man Black had briefly been a member of the Ku Klux Klan, but he had been, in fact, always a progressive on race relations. He had learned much about the subtleties of this matter as a rising politician. He considered the Court’s desegregation decisions as among its most important. It pained him to see the agony that Southerners, both white and black, endured as a result of the Court’s rulings. And it hurt him, too, that many white Southerners thought him a traitor. Black blamed himself in part. He had given in to Justice Felix Frankfurter’s demand that the phrase “all deliberate speed” be included in the Court’s 1955 ruling (Brown v. Board of Education II) to set the rate at which school systems must desegregate. That was language for lawyers and it had been a grievous mistake. The phrase had given the South its weapon. For fifteen years lawyers had seized upon it to defy the law of the land. “I never should have let Felix get that into the opinion,” Black often said to his clerks.

It had become an excuse for delay, and it had also thrust federal judges into the business of deciding which plans would work and which would not, which schedules were fast enough and which were not. Judges were running school systems and making decisions about school locations and the racial proportion of faculty members, matters in which they had no experience. Black felt that for the federal courts to assume this role was the old “tyranny of the judges.” He had an abiding fear of judges exercising so much discretion, having seen them dismantle the New Deal and defend corporate power in the early 1930s.

Black had always advised both the other Justices and his own clerks to “go for the jugular,” a word he pronounced in his soft Alabama accent to rhyme with bugler. He meant that cases weren’t won or lost, nor was the law decided, on legal niceties. Judges might say they were, but that was never the real reason. In each case there was always a crucial issue to locate. The issue might be hard to find, Black said, but once found it must be addressed.

In this latest case (Alexander v. Holmes County Board of Education), it would be easy for Black to follow his own advice. The issue was that the Court’s Brown decisions were not being obeyed, the pace of desegregation was too slow. So the question was how to prevail over an apparent loss of will by the usually firm Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, as well as over an administration that was, at the very least, hedging.

Five days later, on September 3, Black received a memorandum from the Justice Department. Solicitor General Griswold was urging that Black permit the Mississippi delay. Griswold acknowledged that such a delay “means in most situations, another school year, and that is a tragedy and a default.” But he argued that it was inevitable, because of the need to revamp student assignments and reschedule and reshuffle faculties.

Black found this request absurd. But as the single Justice acting on the request to overturn the Fifth Circuit, he felt the need to proceed cautiously. He wanted to overturn the delay and order desegregation at once. Immediately. Technically he had the authority and could do what he thought was proper. But the full Court might not accept his position. If a majority disagreed, they would doubtless vote to hear the case during the regular term, and they might reverse him. Black wanted to avoid angering his colleagues. Douglas occasionally acted alone as Circuit Justice when there was no chance that his views would be supported by a majority. The full Court at times reversed Douglas, but the other Justices still resented Douglas’s taking matters into his own hands.

There was another factor too: the new Chief Justice. Burger’s record on civil rights issues seemed decent. The new Chief had sought out Black’s opinion on a number of matters over the summer, and Black had found him well-meaning and congenial. Still, Burger was clearly Nixon’s man.

Above all, Black wanted to avoid triggering a split in the Court. He decided not to overturn the delay but to set forth his own views as strongly as possible and thus show the way for the Court. He chose his words carefully, writing slowly with a pencil on a yellow legal pad. A clerk assisted him, but Black’s memory problems slowed their effort. He frequently needed to be reminded of what the Court of Appeals had said. His clerk patiently told him. Black would jot down some thoughts and ask the same question. On some points, he needed to be reminded several times. It was a slow and painful struggle. “For a great many years,” Black finally wrote, “Mississippi had had in effect what is called a dual system of public schools, one system for white students only and one system for Negro students only.”

His frustration and impatience came through in sarcasm. Black recounted the history of the desegregation cases, including the ill-chosen “all deliberate speed” language of the 1955 Brown case (Brown v. Board of Education II). The time for “all deliberate speed,” he wrote, had “run out.” He acknowledged that the most recent 1968 Court desegregation decision (Green v. County School Board of New Kent County) could be interpreted as approving a “transition period” from a dual to a unitary system. That decision could also be read to say that the Court required only that the school systems have plans for desegregation now, not that there must be desegregation now. For Black, that was an incorrect interpretation. The time for delay, postponement, foot-dragging, transition was over. But, he wrote, “I recognize that, in certain respects, my views as stated above go beyond anything this Court has expressly held to date…. Although I feel there is a strong possibility that the full Court would agree with my views, I cannot say definitely that they would….”

On September 5, Black issued a five-page opinion that left the Fifth Circuit’s delay intact, “deplorable as it is to me,” and invited the N.A.A.C.P. Legal Defense and Education Fund, Inc.—commonly known as the “Inc. Fund”—that was representing the blacks in Mississippi to “present the issue to the full Court at the earliest possible opportunity.”

The opinion might force the Court to take the case. Since 1954, the Court had always been unanimous in school cases, its strong commands to desegregate joined by every member. For fifteen years, the Justices had agreed that it was essential to let the South know that not a single Justice believed in anything less than full desegregation. To preserve that unanimity, the Court could not let the Fifth Circuit delay remain in force. Black’s opinion put him on record as favoring a reversal.

The Inc. Fund followed Black’s suggestion and filed an emergency petition asking for a prompt hearing. On October 7, the Justice Department formally urged the Court to use its discretionary power not to hear the case, arguing that it would be better to wait and see what the Mississippi schools did after the plans were submitted on December 1. At conference on October 9, Black was able to muster the four votes required to grant the Inc. Fund cert petition.5 The Justices agreed to put the case at the head of the docket and to hear oral arguments in two weeks, on October 23.

The press followed the case closely. Justice Department officials were saying that a Court decision in favor of the Inc. Fund, one that demanded immediate desegregation, would be tough to enforce because the Department did not have enough lawyers, and because the South might react violently. The President remarked at a press conference that those who wanted “instant integration” were as “extremist” as those who wanted “segregation forever.” Lower federal court judges who were on the battle lines, with hundreds of similar school cases before them, waited to see what signal, if any, might be forthcoming.

On the morning of Thursday, October 23, the courtroom was packed. Two hours, twice the normal time, had been allotted for oral argument. Jack Greenberg, chief lawyer for the Inc. Fund, opened. He said there had been enough stalling and enough lawlessness by the Southern school officials. He reminded the Court that its decisions were not being obeyed. Even after the Court’s ruling of the year before, the federal court in southern Mississippi had spent a year arguing whether blacks were innately inferior to whites. Greenberg summed up the situation in Mississippi. A related suit against the school board of Jackson, Mississippi, was still pending in the Fifth Circuit. The man who had filed that suit, Medgar Evers, would not see how it came out; he had been gunned down near his home in Jackson. “The sorriest part of the story lies in the exercise of discretion by some United States District Court judges in that state,” Greenberg said. They had delayed, they had refused to proceed, and they had exploited “ambiguity—real ambiguities and fancied ambiguities—in the decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.”

Greenberg was going for everything in this case. He wanted the Court to take away the South’s tested and most effective tool for delay. During the lower court battles, school districts often remained segregated until all appeals were exhausted. He proposed that the burden of proof be shifted, and that the Court order that the original H.E.W. plans be implemented. Desegregation should be the status quo. Its opponents could argue all they wanted, litigate all they wanted, but the schools would be desegregated during that process. He had a further suggestion. The recalcitrant District Court should be told to stay out of the case, and the higher court of appeals, the Fifth Circuit, should oversee implementation of the plans.

Greenberg wanted a strong desegregate-at-once statement that would have a straightforward symbolic effect. He did not want the Court to focus on the practical problems of ordering instant desegregation.

Louis Oberdorfer, a private attorney and a former law clerk for Justice Black, argued for a group of lawyers in private practice whose names read like a Who’s Who of the legal establishment. The group opposed any desegregation delay and offered, if necessary, to supply attorneys to help enforce desegregation in the South.

Black broke into Oberdorfer’s argument as if he were asking his former clerk for advice. “The thing to do is to say that the dual system is over and that it is to go into effect today … to go at it now— do you agree?” he asked softly.

“I agree with that, Your Honor,” Oberdorfer responded, “without knowing exactly what ‘now’ is.”

“I mean when we issue an order,” Black said. He paused, then added: “If we do.”

The audience broke into loud laughter. Black was not hiding his position.

Mitchell had assigned the head of the Civil Rights Division of the Justice Department, Jerris Leonard, to present the government’s case. Leonard had barely given an account of government’s successes in achieving desegregation in the South when he was interrupted by questions, first from Douglas and then from Black. Trying to brush them off, Leonard stated that there were practical problems, that the situation was complicated.

“What’s so complicated?” Black challenged testily.

Leonard backpedaled. “What I’m pleading with this Court is not to do something precipitous—”

That set Black off. “Could anything be precipitous in this field now?” He could not hide his contempt. “With all the years gone by since our order was given?”

Leonard continued, but he was interrupted repeatedly.

Burger’s low baritone attempted to soothe the waters. “Just one question if I may. If there had been no appeal here … can you assure us that the plans would have been submitted on December 1?”

Leonard was happy with that question. Yes, he assured the Chief. If the Court did nothing, the new plans would be submitted by then.

Burger was satisfied. It was already the end of October. Whether the Court overturned or upheld the lower court order, the plans would be submitted in about five weeks. But White and Black forced Leonard to concede that even if the plans were in by then, the latest appeals court decision did not guarantee that desegregation would take place before the next school year. Leonard admitted that another year might go by without much progress.

“Too many plans and not enough action,” Black said with a thin smile, and the audience once again burst into laughter.

The next day, Friday, October 24, the Justices met in conference to discuss the case. Tradition dictated that the Chief speak first, that he outline the issues and briefly state his view. Then the discussion would proceed in order of seniority, starting with Black. Theoretically, voting would then take place in the opposite order, starting with the junior Justice, Thurgood Marshall. But over a period of time, the formal vote had been dispensed with, since, in expressing his views, each Justice let it be known where he stood. If his position was firm, it amounted to a vote.

The Chief, sitting in his chair at the end of the table, turned to the Mississippi case, the first major case of the term. The crowded courtroom the day before, the intense press interest, the passion of the lawyers and the obvious concern and emotion of his colleagues, suggested this case would be a landmark, an enduring guide for future cases of the same type. It might be the most important case since the original Brown decision. The Warren Court had built much of its reputation on fifteen years of school desegregation cases. Now, Warren Burger, as Chief Justice, would guide the Court to its next milestone. It would be a test of his leadership. From what he had heard and seen, Burger realized that unanimity, the unwritten rule in these cases, was going to be difficult to achieve. His own position differed from Black’s September 5 opinion. Burger didn’t think the Justice Department was being wholly unreasonable. Clearly there were practical problems—problems H.E.W. and the appeals court understood better than the Supreme Court—and it was important that the plans be workable. If revised plans were submitted December 1, five weeks from now, it would not be a disaster for school desegregation. Yet Burger opposed delay for its own sake, and that was clearly what the district court in Mississippi favored. The Supreme Court should take a strong stand against that sort of stalling. It should issue a statement that there would be no delay and ask the appeals court to move as quickly as possible without prolonged debate. Perhaps the Justices could quickly issue a short, simple order opposing delay, and follow it with an opinion laying out their reasoning.

Black, sitting as senior Justice at the opposite end of the conference table, spoke next. Five weeks, he said, was not the issue. It was symbolic. Any willingness on the part of the Court to grant a delay, no matter how slight, would be perceived as a signal. All those district court judges with hundreds of similar cases in their courts, all those Southern politicians, and the Nixon administration itself, were waiting for the Court to show any sign of weakening in its resolve. To appear to waver, even for a second, would be a betrayal. Black attacked Nixon and his administration bitterly. They were allowing the South hope of further evasions. The Court must resolve the problem and reaffirm its commitment before Nixon took hold of the situation. What little progress there had been in the South and the Border States had really occurred after the Justice Department and H.E.W. had stepped in to sue school boards and to draw up plans. The Court could not permit them to drop out of the struggle now.

All that was needed in this case was a short, simple order, Black argued, not an opinion. There had already been too much writing. Every time an opinion came down, some lawyer found an ambiguity, filed a suit and got more time. To involve the Court in debating details or plans would be disastrous. That was exactly what the proponents of delay wanted. There must be no mention of plans in the order, or of timetables. Black wanted unanimity as much as anyone, but if the Court’s order mentioned the word “plan,” he would dissent. There must be nothing that school districts or the Nixon administration could grab onto for another round of quibbling.

Black also agreed with the Inc. Fund that everyone seemed to have this matter all backwards. Everyone seemed to think that the status quo was segregation, and that monumental efforts had to be launched to change the status quo. But the law was the status quo. And the law, laid down fifteen years before by this Court, called for single, unitary school systems. The order should explicitly reject “all deliberate speed” and demand desegregation immediately, today, at once, now. No more rhetoric. “If anybody writes,” Black concluded, “I dissent.”

There was a moment of stunned silence. A dissent by Black, a giant of the Court, an historic figure, would make it look as if the Court was in retreat. It would give new hope to the South’s “never” faction. Several Justices spoke up out of turn to ask Black just how the Court could expect to enforce this order now. Black refused to discuss it. “You do what you want, and I’m going ahead,” he said.

Next it was Douglas’s turn to speak. Back from a summer in the Cascade Mountains of Washington State, Douglas was an imposing physical presence in the conference. White-haired, with a cowlick, a sinewy six-footer, he looked uncomfortable in his inexpensive business suit, rumpled white dress shirt and Dacron tie. Tanned and weathered, his face reflected his many off-season trips to all parts of the world. His twenty books, countless articles and speeches, and even the cowboy dime novels published under a pen name in his youth reflected his individualistic values. Douglas had built his life on adversity: poverty, polio, camping accidents. He had spent most of his years moving against the grain. He had been twice mentioned as a vice-presidential candidate, and once he had been offered the nomination, but he had decided against a politician’s life. Nonetheless, he had never hesitated publicly to urge his internationalist views, even in the face of the fervent anti-communism of the 1950s.

Douglas’s soft voice countered his authoritative tone. He rarely spoke at length in conference. He had decided years before that attempts to persuade were futile, or, even worse, counterproductive. His colleagues knew where he stood on most issues. He unabashedly accepted liberal dogma. He was for the individual over government, government over big business, and the environment over all else. But Douglas still insisted on laying out his exact resolution of each element of a case in his formal written opinions. If he could not persuade his colleagues, he could at least spread his ideas outside the Court.

Douglas wanted the Court to move aggressively on the race issue. In typewriter cadence, he clicked off several sentences on his general position, moved to his next point, kicking the table as he paused, jumped to another point without a connective, flapped his ear nervously while staring coldly across the table, and finally, again without warning, tied up his first and last points in terse summation.

To the others, the position was clear. Douglas would support Black.

John Harlan, quietly chain-smoking Larks, had been scrupulously attentive during Black’s tirade. One hand rested near his grandfather’s gold watch chain strung across the vest of his dark suit. Harlan had worn the same conservative suits, ordered by mail from London, virtually every day since he had come to the Court fourteen years before. Gaunt and ramrod-straight, he had a commanding presence. An ulcer operation had removed half his stomach, and he had no extra weight on his lean, 6-foot-1 frame. A Wall Street lawyer from a wealthy family, private schools, then Princeton and Oxford, John Harlan was the quintessential patrician, generally unflappable and unfailingly courteous.

His grandfather, named for the country’s fourth Chief Justice, John Marshall, had been a Justice for thirty-four years. He had been known as the “Great Dissenter,” the only Justice to dissent in the famous nineteenth-century case Plessy v. Ferguson, which had permitted segregated schools until it was finally overturned by the 1954 Brown ruling. Like his grandfather, Harlan viewed the law as almost a religious calling. Despite—and also because of—his near-blindness in the last few years, Harlan was the Court’s hardest working member. He read about 150 words per minute, bent over, his eyes nearly touching the paper. Yet he was the Court’s most prolific writer. No matter how insignificant the disagreement or how minor the case, Harlan felt compelled to spell out his views for the sake of intellectual honesty. He made one exception to that rule: school desegregation cases.

Harlan had been the “conservative conscience” of the Warren Court, a frequent dissenter. He advocated restraint rather than activism. Despite his disagreements with Black, the two were as close as brothers. Harlan felt that he understood Black’s concerns, particularly his guilt and anguish over “all deliberate speed.” Yet he was offended by Black’s speech, not because of the attack on Nixon—that was just Hugo—but because an order was no way to decide a major case. It would be preposterous for the Court just to say “Do it now,” without offering any reasoning. The district and appeals courts needed guidance, and that required an opinion.

Black was being too emotional. Ever since his stroke, Black had been increasingly unpredictable, testy and belligerent, Harlan thought. “Difficult,” Harlan called it. Black wanted to decide this case in a spasm of indignation. Harlan would not allow it. For years, internal disagreements had been festering among the Justices on the difficult details of desegregation. They had subordinated those disagreements to maintain their united front. Harlan felt that this might be the case where their differences might erupt into public view. In the current climate, the shattering of the Court’s unanimity could set the Court and the country back several years or decades. But Black had laid down a challenge: Do it my way or I’ll take those risks. Black was tinkering with the bottom line—unanimity.

Harlan said he agreed that delay should be rejected out of hand in strong language, but in a well-reasoned opinion. He would go along with much of what the Inc. Fund wanted—taking the case away from the federal district court in Mississippi and making sure there would be no long arguments over plans. But he was not going along with any notion of immediate desegregation. The Court—the Warren Court—had been criticized too often for its pie-in-the-sky views. Now the Burger Court had to show consideration for the realities. Instant desegregation was impossible.

Harlan also strongly disagreed with Black’s notion that “all deliberate speed” was at the heart of the delays. Another phrase, or no phrase at all, would not have helped. The problem of achieving desegregation in the South was intractable, destined to take a long time no matter what the Court had said fifteen years before. But Nixon and his administration were also a new reality. Harlan was deeply suspicious of Nixon’s motives. To affirm the Court of Appeals, as Burger seemed to favor, would send the wrong signal. Whatever the Court said, it should overturn the Court of Appeals. Harlan wanted to send a strong message to both Nixon and the South that the Court was not backing off. Then Harlan laid down his own challenge. He wanted unanimity, but if Black wrote a separate opinion, he too would write separately.

Brennan was disturbed to see the conference splintering. He agreed with much of what Black said, but one had to be practical. He wanted to stay in the middle. That had been his vantage point for years as the prime mover on the Warren Court. Physically smaller than his colleagues, Brennan was the most energetic advocate. He cajoled in conference, walked the halls constantly and worked the phones, polling and plotting strategy with his allies. He was thin and gray-haired, and his easy smile and bright blue eyes gave him a leprechaun’s appearance as he sidled up and threw his arms around his colleagues. His warmth allowed Brennan alone to call the reserved Harlan “Johnny.” It had been Brennan who had sat each Thursday with Warren preparing an orchestration for the Friday conference.

“Well, guys, it’s all taken care of,” Brennan often told his clerks after the sessions with Warren. With votes from Fortas, Marshall, and usually Douglas, Brennan rarely failed to put together a majority. He had dissented only three times the previous term, only thirty times in the last half decade. Now, with Burger replacing Warren and Black threatening to dissent, the situation looked bleak. So Brennan said little.

Potter Stewart spoke, and then Byron White. Both were upset by Black’s threat, and his absolutist position. The school year had already begun. The Court had to recognize that. They both believed that the intricate processes of desegregating schools couldn’t be accomplished over a weekend.

Stewart had been an appeals court judge before coming to the Court. He wanted to help the lower courts, not to confuse them. Black’s “now” view might make good reading, but the trial courts needed to know what to do. If the Court said “now,” the appeals and district court judges would simply ask, “What does that mean?” Worse, Stewart feared that the lower courts would lose faith in the Supreme Court if it came out with some abstract pronouncement.

There was no question where the final speaker at conference, Thurgood Marshall, stood on the question of school desegregation. Marshall had headed the Inc. Fund for twenty-two years, from its founding in 1939 until 1961, when John F. Kennedy appointed him to the Second Circuit Court of Appeals. The great-grandson of a slave, son of the steward at a fashionable all-white Chesapeake Bay yacht club, Marshall pioneered the civil rights battle against segregation in housing, public accommodations and schools. He won 29 of the 32 cases he argued before the Supreme Court for the Inc. Fund.

In 1965, Lyndon Johnson appointed Marshall Solicitor General. When Marshall hesitated, Johnson’s closing argument was, “I want folks to walk down the hall at the Justice Department and look in the door and see a nigger sitting there.” Two years later Johnson appointed Marshall to the Supreme Court. Marshall had not sought and had not wanted the appointment. He preferred the more active give-and-take of public-interest law. His jurisprudence was long settled; so at conference, Marshall was relaxed, almost intuitively reaching his common-sense solution. He had fit easily into the Warren liberal majority. Plain-spoken and direct, Marshall saw his job as casting his vote and urging his colleagues to do what was right. On the Court, he had little interest in perfecting the finger points of the law. He often told his clerks, only half jokingly, “I’ll do whatever Bill [Brennan] does,” sometimes even jotting “follow Bill” on his notes. He trusted Brennan’s resolution of the detailed, technical questions of legal scholarship. The clerks had taken to calling Marshall “Mr. Justice Brennan-Marshall.” Often he would follow White on antitrust cases. But on discrimination cases, Marshall followed no one.

Marshall had headed the team of lawyers who argued the original Brown cases. He remained unhappy with “all deliberate speed.” He shifted his massive six-foot-one, two-hundred-and-fifty-pound body slightly as he closed in on his point. He agreed with Black that the phrase was ill-chosen. But the most important element in this case was unanimity for desegregation. There must be no suggestion that the Court was backtracking. He was a practical man. If necessary, he said, he was willing to go along with a delay to December 1 for submission of plans.

But that was not the major point. Marshall was concerned with bread-and-butter issues—getting black kids and white kids in the same schools. The key was a date for implementation of the plans, and the Fifth Circuit had not set one. Without a date, even the Justice Department admitted that implementation would not occur until the next school year. Surely the schools could do better than that, Marshall said. He proposed setting the implementation deadline for January, the beginning of the next semester.

As the Justices expressed their views, Burger grew increasingly worried. The new Chief had seen during his first weeks that many cases were not decided at conference. Feelings were tentative, disagreements subtle. Often, something had to be put down on paper before a consensus emerged. Burger knew the press would view this case as the first test of his leadership. None of the opinions argued so far was nearly ready to be issued. Burger didn’t want to let things get any more out of control than they already were.

The Justices did have some points of agreement. First, the Supreme Court itself must not appear to be delaying. An expedited order would have to be issued soon—perhaps by the coming week. Second, the Court of Appeals should retain jurisdiction and, thus, control. The federal district court, which had allowed years of stalling, should not be involved. There even appeared to be a majority for reversing the appeals court’s decision to grant a delay in the submission of plans. So that issue was settled. But beyond these points, there was a broad spectrum of opinion on what the Court should do and say. Should the Court set specific deadlines for the appeals court, or allow it some flexibility to work out the problem?

In keeping with the tradition that the Chief Justice assigns opinions if he is a member of the majority, Burger said he would try to work out language in a simple order that would encompass the concerns of all the Justices. That could be followed by a full opinion if they all agreed to it.

The way Burger analyzed the conference discussion, the main obstacle to a unanimous decision was Black. Douglas was following his lead. They were alone in insisting that the Court should order desegregation now and that no opinion should be written, points on which even Brennan and Marshall seemed open to compromise. If they could be kept from joining Black, then Black would almost certainly back down, despite his rhetoric in conference. Burger needed first to put together a consensus opinion with Stewart and White, whose views were closest to his own. From their comments about the need to be realistic, Burger felt that he could go along with anything they might decide on. Harlan was the next available vote. He might want to use stronger language, might be more inclined to fix a firm deadline for implementation. Both would be okay. Harlan might be able to draft something that would draw Brennan and Marshall over to their side.

After the conference, Burger met with Harlan and Stewart and asked for their help. They had been through this process before, working with widely disparate views, attempting to reach a common ground.

Harlan said that he resented Black’s threat to break unanimity by dissenting. It amounted to “blackmail.” He was perplexed by Black’s unrealistic solution. The Court couldn’t snap its fingers and create desegregation. He could see that Black was up to his old tricks, saying “Here is where I stand,” and professing indifference to the others’ views. Burger asked Harlan if he would draft a possible order for the Court to issue. He wanted Harlan’s thoughts as a starting point.

Harlan went to his chambers to work. Normally, he would have a clerk prepare a first draft. This one he did himself. His grandfather’s picture looked down on him from the wall opposite his desk. Harlan’s face almost touched the paper as he pushed a ball-point pen across the pad. The writing was hardly legible.

“Proposed Order and Judgment,” he wrote at the top.

“The question presented is one of paramount importance…. In view of the gravity of the issues and the exigency of prompt compliance with the Constitution, we deem it appropriate to enter the following order.” He paused and added, “… with the opinion of the Court to follow this order.” There simply had to be an opinion.

“The Court of Appeals … is reversed,” he wrote, saying that the Court of Appeals should determine “forthwith” if the original H.E.W. plans were “adequate and reasonable interim means”— that was for realists like himself—“to achieve immediate desegregation.” That last phrase was for Black.

But when should the order be implemented? The question had been left up in the air at conference. It wasn’t clear that a single deadline could be set. Some school systems might be able to desegregate immediately.

“The earliest possible moment,” Harlan wrote, adding, “and in no event later than _____ ___, _____.” He left blanks. An outer limit probably should be set, perhaps midyear, but there had been no consensus.

The two-page order was immediately sent down to the Court’s printing shop in the basement. Even the most tentative drafts were generally printed and copies distributed to the other chambers. Early printed drafts in cases were never released, only the final ones.

The next morning, Saturday, October 25, most of the Justices came to the Court. Black stayed home.

The Chief asked Harlan and White to his chambers to go over Harlan’s draft. Burger and White had also drafted possible orders. With a few changes, however, Harlan’s draft served as the basis for their agreement. They decided to leave the implementation date open, to be decided by the Fifth Circuit, since any date the Court set could be seen as a retreat. Burger then sent a memo to the other Justices telling them that Harlan and White and he had met and that this was their submission.

CONFIDENTIAL
MEMORANDUM TO THE CONFERENCE

Justice Harlan, Justice White and I met today and working from three rough, preliminary drafts of alternative dispositions developed the enclosed order to be followed by an opinion.

The draft reflects not necessarily our final view but a “passable” solution of the problem.

We have concluded, tentatively, to avoid fixing an “outside” date. I am partly persuaded to do this because of the risk that it could have overtones which might seem to invite dilatory tactics.

[Signed] WEB

When Brennan, Marshall and Douglas reviewed the proposed order, they agreed that it simply was not strong enough. The order would have to be improved before they could find it palatable, and certainly it was not going to be acceptable to Black. Marshall had been willing to compromise as long as there was an implementation deadline that insured desegregation by the next semester. But now he thought Black might be right. His insistence on “now” might be unreasonable, but it was quite likely the Court’s best posture. It might be best to send a shock-wave message. An impractical order directing desegregation “now” might underscore the Court’s seriousness. Also, Marshall reasoned, such an order would certainly mean desegregation by the next semester.
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